$60
K‘

COMMONS REGISTRATION ACT 1965

Reference No,45/D/23
4s5/D/24
45/D/25
4s5/D/26
4s/D/27
Ls/D/28

In the Matter of The Common or The Green
and Moor End, Nun Monkton, Nidderdale R.D.,
Yorkshire West Riding

DECISION

My decision is that this land is a village green. The disputes which have made it
necessary to give this decision, the circumstances in which they have arisen, my
findings and my reasons are as follows.

The disputes relate to the registration (a) at Entry No.l in the Land Section of
Register Unit No.CL.32 and (b) at Entry No.l in the Land Section of Register Unit
No,VG.21 in the Registers of (a) Common Land and (b) Town or Village Greens
maintained by the West Riding County Council and are occasioned (D/23 and D/24)

by these registrations being in conflict, (L/25 and 3/26) by Objection No.524 made

by the Vest Riding County Council and noted in the Register on 18 January 1971 and
(D/27 and D/23), by the said registrations being treated as being in conflict with
the registration at EBntries No.l to 24 inclusive in the Rights Sectior of the said
degister Unit lMo,VG.2l and with the Intries identical with the last mentioned ZIntries
deemed to be made in the Rights Zection of the said Register Unit No.cL.32.

I held a hearing for the purpose of injuiring into these disputes at Harrozate on

1, & and 35 iovember 1973, it the hearing (1) West Riding County Council were
represented by Mr. I'. Pickersgill, (2) ilun Monkton Parish Council were represented

by ilajor J. M. 3. 3Barchard, their chairman, {(3) Mr. P. Z. #. Johnson was represented
by ir. J. J. Pearlman solicitor of lessrs. Pearlman & Co, Solicitors of Leeds, (4)
Hogg Builders (York) Limited ("logg Builders') were represented by kr. J. T. Yeomans
solicitor of iiessrs., Harrowells 3olicitors of York, (5) Mr. T. 2. Candelznd was
represented by Mr., T. 3. OQwen, solicitor of lMessrs. Cornish Forfar & illen 3Solicitors
of Liverpool., The following participated in person in the proceszdings either by
addressing me on some point or by giving me their names as being versons in some

way concerned:- (&) Lieutenant-Colonel G. L. il. Woolley, (7) ir. . H. 7. Palmer,
(8) Mr. J. Corcoran, (9) lr. R. C. Burton, (10) lr. J. 5, Corfield, (11} ir. J. Hol:zat
(12) tr. G. i. and Hrs. J. Zanis (13) lir. B. Parkinson, (14) Colonel £. C. iansel and
(15) Mr. J. Towers.

nll present a2t the beginning of this hearing acreed that I snould hear all these
disputes together.

Colonel Joolley in the course of his evidence handed me ten statements signed by

the following persons, as containing information which they wished me to consider:-

(1) Mrs. E. !, Barker, (2) lrs. Z. Burton, (3) ilrs. N. iuright, Mr, N, Wrizht and Miss

¥. Smith (to their statement was attached a copy of a page from the July 1911

Boroughbridge Deanery Magazine) (&) Mr., W. Yright, (5) Mr. a. J. Howes and lr. K.

lanmerton, (&) Mr. T. V. Hunter, (7) Mrs. E. Huby and Mr. F. Huby, (&) Miss . Burton,

Hr. G. Backhouse, Mr. W, Backhouse and iHr. and iirs. T. Allen, (9) Frs. S. Binns and (1C
weledpoper Mrs. M, Aykroyd. '
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On 3 November 1973 I inspected the land in the presence of Major Barchard, HKr.
Johnson, Mr, Holgate, Mr. M. P. Hogg (managing director of Hogg Builders), Colonel
Woolley, and others,

The said entries in the Land Section of both the said Register Units were pursuant
to applications made by the Parish Council on 30 March 1967, one being for a coamon
land registration and the other for a town or village green registration. The
grounds of the said Objection made by the County Council are (as stated in the form):-
"That the county maintained highway included within the area was not part of a Town
or Village Green at the date of registration and should be excluded'. The entries
No.1-24 in the Rights Section are all in respect of the right to graze animals (or
beasts) over the whole of the land comprised in these Register Units, the applicants,
{their successors in title as notified in the Parish Council's letter dated 17 August
1973 in brackets), the number of animals, and the land to which the rights are attache
being as follows:- (1) Colonel G. E. M. Woolley, four, Forge House (formerly Poplar
House); (2) lMr. R. Arrowsmith, four, the Alice Hawthorn Inn and garth; (3) Mr. N. C.
Burton, two, Lane End House; (4) Mrs. V. J. Burton (now Mr. J. S. Gxfield), two, White
Swan House; (5) FHr. J. Charman (now Mr. A. and irs. J. lloyd), two, Rosemary Cottage,
(6) Mr. R. H. Crawshaw, two, Hatch End; (7) Mr. H. Godson, two, Barf House; (8) Mr.
H., Hardy, (now iir. P. E. Johnson) two, Rose Cottage; (9) Mr.J. Holgate, four, Leeds
Garth, (10) Mr. ©B. M. Hill, four, Zmithy Cottage; (11) Miss F. Horner, two, Plum Tree
Cottage; (12) lir., J. 3, Hunter, two, ipple Tree Farm; {(13) Mr., T. V. Hunter, two,
Cundall's Parm (now known as West 3ide Farm); (%) iir. P. H. lark (now Mr. L. and Mrs.
R. Irons), four, The Green, (as shown cn a map); (15) bir. +. H. T. Palmer, two,
Church House; (16) ir. 8. Jdcott (now fir. B. K. dndrews), four, Tesseymans Cottige;
(17) ¥r. S. L. D. Taplin (now iir. P. and Hrs. M. Patricid, seven, Batman Farm; {(13)
Mizs . Werner (now Hr. J. and iirs. Corcoran), two,Croft House; (1%) iir., C. Ray, two,
Lhor House; (20) Miss I, Wright {(now ir. J. Towers), two, Jest louzej (21) Hiss M.
Yrignt (now ilr. . and brs. H. hakin), two, Shrubbery Cottage; (22) iir. F. 2. Ray,
four, The Presbytervy; (23) iiiss 4. Ray, two, Green Ridge; and (2% Mr. G. :. Innis,

© three, The School Zouse. The total number of animals which may be grzzed under these
rights iz sixty-six.
The land ("the Unit Land") comprised in these Register Units contzins (according to
the Register) 18.55 acres. It issiaped like a "C" with a narrow central piece wnich
rougitly divides it into two parts: the northern part ("the iioor Ind Part™) and the
southern part('The Buttery Pond Part").

The houses in the Village (or nearly all of them) front on the Unit Land. The Buttery
Pond Part is almost completely surrounded by houses (including the 0ld 3chool and the
Alice Hawthorne Public House). The iicor End Par¢is surrounded by houses less densely
and by Iielcs. :

The only motor road to the Village enters the Unit Land at the north west corner of
the Hoor End Part and runs across the Unit Land to end on the east side of the Buttery
Pond Part; this road continues as a driveway or track (tze Avenue) to the Parish
Church, to a large dwelling house (the Priory), to some farms and other buildings

and to landing places for boats on the River Uuse and the River Nid (these rivers

join here).

The Unit Land apart from the Buttery Pond and some other ponds, the motor road and

some tracks and footpaths, is all grass land, apparently regularly grazed. JSouthwest

of the Buttery Pond there is a maypole (''the Great laypole') about 55 (possibly more)

feet high, painted green and white (two equal coloured spirals about one foot wide
ycwdpaper  which wind round from the bottom to the top).
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The general appearance of the Unit Land is extraordinarily attractive; it is obviously
a valuable amenity for all who live near by and an attraction to visitors. The
gently undulating grass, the pleasing character of the surrounding houses, (when I

was there) the cattle grazing and the ducks on the Buttery Pond together produce an
atmosphere of peace and contentment; but I was told that on some days in summer the
appearance of the Unit Land with many motor coaches and cars parked on it is not so
gooad. .

For the reasons mentioned in the First Appendix, at an early stage in the proceedings
it appeared that the only question which needs my decision is whether the Unit Land
as a whole is a town or village green within the definition in section 22{(1) of the
Commons Registration Act 1965. This definition is (omitting words which could not be
applicable): '"meansland ... on which the inhabitants of any locality have a customary
right to indulge in sports and pastimes or on which the inhabitants of any locality
have indulged in such sports or pastimes as of right for not less than twenty years'.

I have in the Second Apvendix summarised the proceedings at the hezring, mentioned the
documents® (when hereinafter referred to marked*®) produced, and stzted the qualificati
of Uir. Holgate, lrs. Eanis, Colonel Woolley and lir. Burton on whose oral evidence this
decision is mainly based. Although these four important witnesses who had obviously
all given much thought to the matters in question differed as to the inferences which
I snould draw from the documenis produced and the events which they or some of them
described, they did not differ as to the events themselves; indeed I was much assisted
by the informal discussions which from time to time were held at the hesring for the
ourpose of resolving any possible differences which appeared to have arisen.

The use made of the Unit Land for recreational purposes nmore or less within living
memory was as follows:i-

(i) There is and was a cricket niich ("the old cricket vitch") on the iHoor Znd Part.
Cricket was played there regularly before 1950 ond perhaps for a year or two
afterwards. Yorkshire came there in 1947 and 1948 to play, and a big cricket match
was played for the benefit of iir, 3ill Bowes, the former Enzland bowler; writing in
1964 to the Yorkshire Evening News from lew sSealand, he wrote ''even the village
cricket at Wun lonkton in my native Yorkshire has not a lovelier setting', Simpson*
page 17. Referrins to the celebration of the Coronation of n.ii. King George V 'the
next item on the programme was a Cricket ilatch ... between the village propér and the
out lying farms ... Deanerwy Mamazine 1911 supra. Un two occasions recently a comic
cricket match was played on the old cricket pitch in fancy dress. Children
{notwithstanding the discontinuation of adult cricket) haove continued to play cricket
during the summer holidays and at weskends on the old cricket pitch. Other parts

of the Unit Land have always been used by children for informal cricket and ball

~ games.,

cled paper

(ii) On Saturday nearest 3t. Peter's day (29 June) svorts (mostly for children) are
held on the Unit Land, south and south east of Buttery Pond oprosite the Hawthorne

Inn. These sports have been held annually as far baclt as anyone can remember. ZRecent!

they have been organized by the associaiton of parents and of friends of llun lonkton
School (sometimes not very accurately called the Parents and Teachers iAssociation;
""the P.T.A.")., The sports and the below mentioned Guy Fawkes day celebrations are
Mrs. Ennis said, "the two big events of the year®.

(iil) Children dance round a maypole (not the Great Maypole) about 15 feet high placed
as occasion requires in a permanent concrete socket on the Buttery Pond part near the



School; they do this as part of the recreational activities regularly organized by
the School (who keep safe the pole and its attachments when not in use) and as part
of the annual sports above mentioned. Additionally as part of the recreational
activities organized by the School, during the lunch time and the middle of the
afternoon break, children play informal cricket {generally on the Buttery Pond part
but sometimes on the old cricket field) and rounders, run races and so forth on the
Unit Land; the School playground (an area of tarmac not part of the Unit Land at the
back of the School) is not #==M1 convenient for these activities; the children are
also given on the Unit Land instructions in mathematical measuring, which they think
fun. Although the only detailed description of these activities was given by Mrs,
Ennis, I infer from the proved age of the School and its limited playground that
these recreational school activities were similarly organized before her day.

(iv) Before 1939 an amusement fair was held regularly every year; roundabouts, coconuv
shys, swing boats, aunt sally, a rifle range, a penny on the mat, and so forth.
Although mainly for inhabitants, visitors came from a wide area. The fair was known
as the Village Feast, and it lasted for some days (perhaps for as long as a week,
depending on the Fair Proprietors round), including the St. Peter's day 3Saturday

on which the sports were held. The fair extended over most of the Buttery Pond part.
After the 1939-45 war, the fair was held for one year, but was much smaller; there
were no roundabouts or amusements requiring steam or electric power, such as had been
provided before 1939; the Fair Proprietors brought a few childrens amusements turned
by hand and little else. This much smaller fair may have come for one or two more
Years on the Moor Znd part; after that it ceased altogether.

(v} For as long as Mr. Burton could remember there has been annually a bonfire on
the Moor End part on Guy Fawkes day. #Hecently under the organization of the F.7...,
the bonfire had veen accompanied by fireworks (catherine wheels etc.) attracting many
spectators. '

(vi} ibout 20 or 30 years ago two brothers Messrs. Godson who lived in the Yillage
laid out a small golf course on the lMoor Ind part and this was -used for one or two
Sensons.

(vii) Children in an unorganized way kick balls about and otherwise amuse themselves
on the Unit Land; the ground is generally too undulating for serious football.

(viii) “hen the Buttery Poni freezes, informal ice nockey is nlayed on it with shinty
sticks etec.

Horse-riding was mentioned but only I think by those who were for common and who
wisned to rely on such ridin;; being by permission. On the evidence I had, I cannot
include horse-riding amonyg the sirmificant recresational uses of the Unit Land.

The question most discussed at the hearing and to which most of the evidence was
apparently directed was: (a) whether the recreational use above described was or
was not with the permission of the Lord of the Manor, it being contended that if
such use was with such permission, none of the indulgence of the inhabitants in
sports and pastimes could be "as of right" within the definition quoted above from
the 1965 Act. The other discuised questions were whether any conclusion could be
drawn from (b) the name by which the Unit Land was commonly called, (c) the long
existence of the Great Mayrole and (d) the appearance (apart from the Great liaypole)
of the Unit Land. I will deal with questions (b) and (d) now because the con-
siderations applicable to them are comparatively simple.

cledpaper A number of documents were produced in which the Unit Land was referred to as "the

.
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Common" and also a number (not so many) in which it was referred to as '"the Green''.
Except in the 1965 Act a piece of land may in law and in common speech be both a
common and a village green. Although the name may be of some significance in some
cases when the other evidence is slight, in this case the other evidence is so
voluminous that I regard the name by which the Unit Land has been kmown as without
any significance,

The area used for the annual sports could be flatter and more convenient. The old
cricket pitch could be better; the fielders (e.g. cover point while the batsman

was at the west end) would have to be careful. There are areas {(mostly on the Buttery
Pond part) liable to flooding. There are large areas particularly on the Moor End
part which could not be used for sports and pastimes, as generally understood. But
as I am only concerned (see the last paragraph of the First Appendix) to say whether
the Unit Land as a whole is convenient, it matters not that some areas of the Unit
Land are notconvenient, for sports and pastimes. Regarded as a whole, the Unit Land
is in my opinion (although like many others village greens capable of improvement)
very convenient., The test is not whether somebody living outside liun Monkton and
looking for a good village green would come to Nun Monkton (I think many would), but
whether the persons living in Nun Monkton would regard the Unit Land as a convenient
place for their sports and pastimes; no where else in or near the Village was
suggested; this test the Unit Land in my opinion passes easily.

I shall in this decision assume that the succession of Lords of the Hanor was as
follows:- 1360 Mr. Isaac Crawhill until sometime before 1894; thereafter Mr, Walter
John Crawhill until sometime between 1931 and 1933; thereafter with a possible zap
of a year or two lr. Robert John Sarker until about 1547; thereafter Colonel George
f. aykroyd until his death in 1972. I say assume because although the expression
“"the Lord of the iarnor' was frequently used at the hearing, it was evident that it
was orten used iuprecisely, much 2s the word "Squire' {(a word used by lir. Burton in
much of his evidence as almost interchangeable with the words "Lord of the Hanor')
may me=n the person who lives ir one of the biggest houses in or near a village, is
or is renuted to be the owner (or at lenst interested in) much of the surrounding
land and can be relied on to hexd the subscription list for any worth while village
cause; in this imprecise sense lir. Barker and Colonel Aykroyd were Lords of the Manor
as above stated. From the 1925 and 1931 authorities* and the Iirs. .ray's history*,
I find that lr., Crawhill in 1925 and 1631 owned the Hanor in the strict legal sense
of the word (i.e., property which is or was properly regarded as an incorporeal
hereditament), and that a mcnorial court in some way functionea up to about 1933.
3ut I decline to deduce from the 1934 Jale Particulars* that the ownership of Iweet
Hills Farm and the ownership of the Hanor in some way became legally annexed so as
always to pass together or to find og the informal statements*® of irs. Barker.and
nrs. Avkroyd and the sworn statemenfg of dr. D. P. aykroyd and in the absence of any
documents of title or other evidence that either Hr. Barker or Colonel Aykroyd or
Priory Farms (Mun Monkton)Limited ('the Farm Company']) of Hr. D. P. Avkroyd were ever
ouners of the Manor in the strict legal sense.

Even on the ascumption made in the preceding paragraph, it does not follow that
Mr, Crawhill, lr. Barker and Colonel Aykroyd were successively owners of the Unit
Land.,

‘ihatever may be my decision, these proceedings will be followed by an inguiry as to

the ownership of the Unit Land held uncer section 8 of the 1965 ict; this does not

prevent me from considering and expressing an opinion on ownership so far as may be
é§g> relevant in these proceedings held under section 5. Evidence was given about the

ycled paper
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various acts done as described in the Third Appendix, apparently as indicating that
Mr., Crawhill, Mr. Barker and Colonel Aykroyd had given, or were likely to give,

or unlikely to give, permission for some recreational use on the Unit Land; but each
act is also relevant as indicating that the person-concerned was or was not owner. Nc
documents of title dealing with the Unit Land specifically were produced; indeed havin;
regard to the form of the 1984 Sales Particulars* (the Manor was included in Lot 1
with Sweet Hills Farm but with:a provist the Vendor was to be under no obligation to
specify "the manorial rightggﬁgnd the Unit Land was not specifically included in any
of the 16 Lots many of whichgsurrounded the Unit Land) I do not expect there to be
any such document,

Major Barchard at the beginning of the hearing explaining the absence of Mr. D. P.
Aykroyd, said that he had not yet registered ownership but was seriously contemplatin:s
doing so. Mr. D. P. Aykroyd in his sworn statement® no where says that he is or that
his father Colonel G. H. Aykroyd ever was the owner of the Unit Land. I infer from
the acts described in paragraphs (6) (7) and. (8) of the Third Appendix that Colonel
Aykroyd either never thought he was the owner or had doubts as fto his ownership.

Even assuning that the Unit Land was while the manorial court was functioning (before
1933) reputed to be appurtenant to the Manor, there was no evidence that it remained
so thereafter, I declire therefore to find that Colonel iykroyd was ever owner,

Hevertheless, I shall in this decision assume that the Unit Land was owned for an
estate in fee simple in succession by the Lords of the Manor as above stated, because
it may be that I am wronz in making no finding as to ownership, and because it would
I think be unsatisfactory if I gave a decision against those for common merely on the
zrounds that relying on permission by the owner they have failed to satisiy me as

to ownership {a thing which they misht have been able to do e.3. by compelling
nroduction of the relevant docuuents of title).

It having been alleged that the annual sports and Guy rawkes day activities were by
mermission of the Lord of the ranor, iirs. Ennis in her evidence described now they
nave been organized since 1965 (when she became head teéacher) by a Committee of the
?.T.a., comprising the two teachers and ten inhabitants {parents). The Committee were
"eareful to zsk everyone for helv''. Ropes and stakes were essentinl to prevent the
spectators who were numerous at the Sports from obstructing the events and on Guy
Fawkes day from zettinz into any danger area. The School had roves which could be
knotted together; stakes had to be got from somewhnere. In her first two yexrs, 1565
60 stakes were suponlied by Mr. Jackson at her request; his son was at the School and
his wife was on the Committee., ~s the years went on, the enthusizsm for these events
increased. lr. Bert rishwick who is a mechonic employed by "Friory Farms'' became
treasurer of the P.T.A.; after that there was never any difficulty about the stakes;
they were always in position where and when they were wanted, coming lrs. Innis

“suprosed from Priory Farms and erected by workers employved by the aykroyds in their

free time on 3aturday morning. In 1972 Mr, Taplin, recently app01nted by the Aykroyds
as a farm manager became a member of the Committee; he has a girl at the 5choolj
when the stakes were mentioned, he said "leave it to me lirs. Ennis" and she did.

Mr., Holpate said that although for the annual sports, stakes and tarpaulins had on
many occasions been horrowed from the Aykroyd IZstate, other farmers (e.b. Hir. Jackson)
had contributed.

*
Mr. D. P. Aykroyd in his said sworn statement/says:- 'Bach ye=r ir. Bert Fishwick,
who is employed by me on the farm, has approached me at the time of the Sports Day
which is normally held on the Common on the village Feast Day, usually the Saturday
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nearest to the 29th June which is St. Peter's Day. I have always regarded Mr,
Fishwick's approach to me to be not only for consent to use certain farm material
for the Sports but alsoc as one for consent to use the Common for the Sports. 1In
exactly the same way similar anproaches have been made for equipment for the

Bon Fire and in providing this equipment Mr. Fishwick has been satisfied that the
required consent for the holding of the Bon Fire on the Common has been granted".

To determine whether the provision of stakes as above described constituted
permission in any relevant sense, I must consider in what sense the word "permission'
has been used by the Courts in the various judgments which have been given as to the
meaning of the words "as of right" (these words in the 1965 Act are not defined).

The following quotations from judgments, are I think the most relevant:— "Enjoyment
as of right must mean enjoyment had not secretly or by stealth or by tacit sufferance
or by permission asked from time to time, on each occasion oreven on many occasions o:
using it ,.."; Denman C.J. in Tickle v Brown (1836) 4 Ad. & El. 369. " ,.. you must
see wny whether -the acts have been done as of right, that is to say not secretly, not
as acts of violence, not under permission from tide to time giver by the person on
whose soil the acts were done. I say from time to time given, not that it should
necessarily be yearly, but from time to time during the period the exercise during
which is said to establish the right ... But in my opinion if there is permisszion

from time to time given and accepted during the period relied upon, that does

prevent ... the acts being done as of right ..."'; Cotton L. J. De la Warr v Miles
(18381) 17 Ch. D. 535 at p.595. A temporary permission, although often reneweq,

would prevent an =njoyment from being '"as of rigzht'; but a permanent, irrevocable
permission attributable to a lost grant would not haove the same effect;” Lord Lindler
in Gardner v Hodzson (1903) i.C. 229 at page 239, Although Denman C.J. when construin
these words '"as of right" relied on their ciontext in the 1832 act, the above quotation
from the 1036 and 1831 cases have been troated as apnlicable to the words "as of right
when used with little or no context in the Rights of Jay act 1932, see lierstham v
Coulston 1937 2 H.3. 77 and Jones v Bates 1936 2 .11 Z.2. 235, Indeed that the words
"as of right" are in the 1052 act used in their ordinary sense, maybe deduced from

the speech of Lord .lacnughten in Gardner v Hodsson supra at page 235. Turther the
judgments in Jones v Bates supra nave been treated as applicable to the words "as

of right' wnen used in the ilational Farks and .iccess to the Countryside .ict 1949,
attornev General v Homevwill 1872 1 ..L.X. 1506.

Hy conclusion is that not everything or anything which can be described as "permiszion
within any one of the possible meanings of this word, is enough to prevent the act
pernitted being done "as of right”: if this wus so, the Judzes guoted above would
never have qualified the word 'permission’ as they did.

i simpnle example () of a permission effective to prevent the act being done ‘'as

of right' is where the act (e.g. a sports day, or other annual event)} for which
pernmission is recuested will be besun and finished in a stort time (sav less than

a year) and either the doers when requesting the permission somehow make it clear

to the owner that if the permission is refused the act will not be done or the owner
somehow makes it clear that an act if done must be considered as done pursuant to

the permission. A simple example (B) of a permission which is not effective is when
the act (e.g. the laying out of a permanent cricket pitch) for which permission is
requested will effect some not easily reversible change in the land and the doers when
requesting the permission make it clear that if it be granted they (e.z. the cricketers
will act on the permission irdefinitely without again asking for any further permission
These examples can I think be deduced from the use of the word 'permission from time

égg; to time" and "permanent irrevocable permission' in the above -quotations. In example

ycled paper
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(B), the determination of the question whether the permission can be revoked, i.e.
whether the doers are acting not merely as of right but in exercise of a right is a
quite separate matter.

From the words "given and accepted", I deduce that anyone who inactively watches
from a distance some act being done is not giving an effective permission and that
evidence that an owner has participated with the doers in doing the act in the absence
of any evidence of surrounding circumstances is necessarily ambiguous; in certain
surrounding circumstances the proper inference may be that the owner by such
participation gives an effective permission, because the doers of the act knew or shou
have known that in the absehice of such participation, their act would not be lawful;
in other surrounding circumstances the proper inference maybe th=t the owner is
recognizing the doers have a right to do what they are doing whether or not he
participates and that he is participating merely becaumse quite apart from his
ownership he thinks the act beneficial. The Judges above gquoteddid not I think
intend to define all the circumstances which would constitute a permission effective
to prevent the act being done "as of right" and it would I thirk be presunptuous
of me to attempt to do so.

ot

Applying the principles outlined above, Mrs. Ennis made it clear thzt the (meeting

of the F.T.i. Committee it never occurred to her or as far as she knew to anybody

else that there was any possibility that either the annual sports or the Guy fawkes
day celebrations would not be held at all, and the behavicur of those present was
quite inconsistent with any such thought. If the aykroyds for some reason would not
or could not supnly stakes, there was never any reason why they should not be obtained
from somebody else. On her evidence which apart from the sworn statement of Hr, D. F.
Avkrovd, I would accept without hesitation, I would conclude that the arnual sports
and the annual bonfire wers not in any sense by permission of ir. D. #, aykroyd, or
anybody he represented.

By dll?luultj as rnﬁarda Hls sworn statement is that I cannot imzgine how ¢=;‘\&

' ¥s 2 could "repard' the apzroach made by bir. Fishwick as
being an qnﬁllcatloﬁ for 'consent to use the Comuon for the Sports” or conclude that
when aporoaching him for equipment for the vonfire Hr. Fishwick had been ‘'satisfied
that the required consent for holding the bonfire on the Common had been granted. "
or think (if this is what Fr. D. P. Aykroyd intended me to think) that the annual
sports and the annual bonfire had ever heen, in any possible meaning of the word,
by nis "permission". But being informed that Hr. D. P. avkroyd is a reasonzble person
I can only assume that he is either using the words in his statement in some sense
which has so far eluded me, or tkat he is basing his conclusion on facts of which I
know nothing. In these circumstances I regard his statement as unreliable, because
it appears to me that he did not before swearing it give sufficient consideration
either to what was stzted in it or to the purpose for which it might be used. I
decline therefore to make any order about his evidence under regulation 22 of the
Commons Commissioners Regulations 1971 or, so far as the Civil Zvidence Act 1968 nay
be apnlicable to admit his sworn statement in evidence in exercise of any discretion
I may have under that Act. The paragraphs above quoted being the most important,

I decline to attach anyweight to the other parcgraphs, and I accordingly. reject his
statement altogether. '

although ilr. njhro;d s failure to glve proper consideration to hls statement is
unfortunaté, I should record that it is I think understandable. iajor Barchard
said that the statement had been sworn on the Sunday morning before iHr. D. P. Aykroyd
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left the Village for business reasons, as a result of a telephone conversation in

the afternoon of the previous day, and that Mr. D. P. Aykroyd, after consulting

Mr. Fishwick had agreed to swear a statement prepared in this hurried manner, because
he understood he would be helping the majority of the Village to achieve the result
for which they had voted. To be more helpful than he was, he would {at least if he
could prove from documents that he is Lord of the Hanor) have had to spend a con-
siderable time studying the documents and acquainting himself with the issues involwed
he was never under any obligation to do this., He was not represented at the hearing
before me, so if he be the owner, by not contending that the Unit Land was not Green
he has shown I thihk (although some of the inhabitants may not agree) some generosity
to the Village; and it was mentioned that he was a generous benefactor of the Village
not only in providing for the stakes but also in arranging for the Unit Land to be
drained at his own expense and in other ways.

But it was said that the recreational use of the Unit Land was unobjectionable and

did no harm. As to this I must not overlook the observations made by Harman L. J.

and Russell L. J. (in relation to a claim that certain persons in Durham have a
customary right to take coal off the foreshore): that to show that permission has
never been asked or refused '"is very far from showing that the exercise of the
privilese was under claim of right ... that when the law talks of something beeng

done as of right, it means that the person doing it believes himself to be exercising
a public right'; that the question is whether the act was done by a person who believe
himself to be exercising a right or was merely doing something, which he felt confiden
that the owner would not stop but would tolerate because it did no harm'; that a
diztinction must be made between the activities of a person doing something as of
right and doing it as "a de factopractice which (lie) rightly thinks no one would

find objectionzble and which the owner ... in fzct tolerated as unobjectionable’,
Becitett v Lvons 1567 1 Ch. 449 at pages 462, W69 and 475.

The recreztional use wm=de of the Unit Land was certainly orderly inoffunsive and
innocent, and in thot sense was clearly "unobjectionable' and did no "harm". But in
ay view the Lord Justices were using the words in the context of what would normally
provoke a landowner to taice some action to protect his rights as owner of the land
affected by what was being done, If the Unit Land had always been owned by cone
individual free from any rights of common, in my view the recrertional use made of
the Unit Land by the inhabitants would to such an owner be objectionzble and harmfulj;
any reasonable owner of an enclosed piece of pasture land would as of course take some
action if the inhabitants of the Village were without asking him, to congregate on
it to nlay cricket and to hold an amusement fair, annual sports, Guy rawkes day
celebrztions on the scale on which the Unit Land was used; he would be able to object
because he could take legal proceedings against the easily identifiable organizers;
quite apart from the harm to the grass such an entry on land in private ownership woul:
I think be far outside anything contemplated by the words above quoted. But the
position on this point of the Unit Land is confused by the circumstance that the
rights of the owner (now assuming him to be the Lord of the Manor) were always subject
to the grazing rights of numerous commoners, so that as owner (I am here disregarding
the sugzestion nade at the he.ring that he had a customary right to graze four beasts
on eaual terms with the conmoners) he would suifer little or no actual damage by
any recreational use made of the Unit Land; and although, the commoners collectively
would suffer actual damage from such use, being so numerous, each one of them
individually would not suffer any daomage worth noticing. This confusion cannot in
my view affect the character of the recreational use made of the Unit Land; if an
act done can proverly be regarded as "as of right" when the entife ownership is in
one individual it can I think still properly be so regarded if the ownership is
numerous.
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Except at a meeting (as below mentioned) held in 1909 in resvect of the laying out

of the old cricket pitch, it was not suggested that the common right owners had ever
collectively or individually given any permission for the recrcational use of the
Unit Land. Of course many of these owners would have participated in the recreational
use as inhabitants; as to such participation, the same considerationsare applicable

to it as are applicable to the participation of the Lord of the Manor.

Among the other acts said to prevent the recreational use being "as of right' were:-
(i) Mr, Crawhill, (and perhaps Mr. Barker and for a short time Colonel Aykroyd too)
received payments from the Fair Proprietors and Colonel Aykroyd told them to go away;
as described in paragraphs (2) and (4) of the Third Appendixand (ii) Mr. Barker and
Colonel Aykroyd knew about and actively participated in the recreational use of the
Unit Land by subscribing to the expenses of the annual sports and the Guy Fawkes day
celebrations, by participating or at least knowing about the management of the School
and (in the case of Colonel Aykroyd) by being president of the Cricket Club. I accept
that in certain circumstances 1 could infer that these acts constitute a effective
permission preventing the recreational use being as of '"right"; but the acts
considered by themselves are ambiguous and capable of another interpretation. The
receipt of money from the Fair Proprietors was not necessarily adverse to any
indulgence by the inhabitantsz in sports and pastimes; it was for tineir benefit that
some payment should be made by the Fair Proprietors so that they had no right to
come. Sports and pastimes do not cease to be as of right because they are organized
an¢ if the Fair Proprictors were not wanted (as is I think likely because the
amusements provided after 1545 were so inferior to what had been provided before
1535}, it was approprizte that Colenel Aykroyd should tell them so, Their participati
in the recreational use may be simrly, because they liiced doing wnzt they did. The
simificnnce of the acts must I trhinic be determined in the light of all the evidence
for and against the recreational use being "as of right'.

In favour of the use being "as of rizght", I have:- The recreational use nas lasted
over many yezrs. 1t has been extensive and organized. I infer thzt all concarned
believe thoy were acting lawfully., There was no evidence that anrbody had ever asked
exsreszly or (excent possitly as zbove mentioned) impliedly asked for permission,
There was no evidence that anybody =ver made any declaration eiiler in writing or
verbally that any recreztional usze was "By kind permission of" ilr., Jrawnill, dHr.
Baricer, or Colonel aykroyd or znyorne else; I feel coniident that if any such
declaration had ever bes-n made someone in the Village wouls hove remembered and
realised its importance in these proceedings and I should have been informed; I
conclude that no such declaration was ever made. There was no evidence that any
vody ever thanked the Lords of the ianor for allowing the Unit Land to be used. The
Unit Land is convenient for sports and pastimes and looks like a Village Green,

Balancing the considerations set out in the preceding paragranh azainst the various
matters which those for common who have urged as showing the contrary, I conclude

that the recreational use of the Unit Land as above described for a2t least 20 years
before 30 March 1667 (the date of the application or registration) was as of right.

I reached the above conclusion without regard to the existence of the Great Haypole
because iajor Barchard asked me to do this. But if I consider the Grost Haypole and
the information I have about it as described later in this decision, I cannot imagine
how any inhabitant participating in sports and pastimes on the Unit Land who gave any
thought at all as the legality of what he was doing, could for one moment doubt that
what he was doing was done "as of right'", :
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My decision so far is enough to determine which registration I shall confirm, but
as the existence and non-existence of a customary right was much argued before me, I
will give my decision on this too.

As to customary right:- In 1666, the Court (K.B.) considered a claim that all the
inhabitants of a village time out of memory had used to dance there {a close in
Oxfordshire) at their free will for their recreation and held that this was a good
custom observing that it is necessary for inhabitants to have their recreaztion;

Abbot v Weekly 1 Lev. 176. In 1795, the Court held that a custom for all the
inhabitants of a parish to play all kinds of lawful games and pastimes (the defendant
had been playing cricket) in a close (at Steeple Bumpstead, Essex) at all seasonable
times of the yeur at their free will and pleasure, was a good custom; Fitch v Rawlings
2 Hy. Bi., 393. 1In 1875, the Court held valid a custom to erect a maypole on the
ground {(ishford Carbonell, Salop) and to dance around and about the same and otherwise
enjoy lawful and innocent recreation, Hall v Nottineham 1 Ex. D.l. A& regular usage
unexplained and uncontradicted as of right over a period of 20 yezrs is sufficient

to presume the existence of a customary right, see Brooklebank v Thompson 1903 2 Ch.
344, So the considerations applicable to the two parts of the above gquoted definition
in section 22 of the 1965 ict overlap considerably. The main differences are (i)

=% a claim for a customary right may be supported by evidence other than usage;

(ii) such a claim may be defeated if it is shown that at any time (perhaps more than
20 yeazrs before some use as of right has ~ommenced) the custom could not then have
existed; and (iii) te% such a customary right can never be lost oy non-use.

The Grent lMaypole is marked on all the U.3. maps* produced (1049, 1909 and 1967).
It is mentioned by 3neizni* vage 109, Bogs* page 35, 3ulmer® (entry ilun ronkton), by
Whitwell* page 7. Ihe most detailed account is in the history* br irs. sray; it was
accented at the he.ring she is a reliable historian (the ixr, Poulter she mentions

long after the eventyof 1875 lived in the Village and was the chairnzn of the 1935
Parish leeting); I have set oui in the First inpendix whot ste wrcie incluilng as
an cddendunm a statement by liajor Barchard bringing ner history uz to .ate.

It was said that the Great iiaypole was no more than a flag staff {its only current st =,
flzgs are flowmon appropriate days) or an ornamental pole. Every witness wno zave
evidence before me and every docuient, in which it is mentioned calied it e "maynmole';
and this in my view is whet it is. To me i: proclaims to every serson who coues to

tie Unit Land: "This is a Villase Green, on whicn the inhabitants of this Village

can indulge in sports and pastimes as of right'. Hajor Barchard contendec that 1t onlT
does this way to a lawyer, particulcorly to a lawyer who .mew of the cases above

cited. wWhile I agree that it may speak more clearly to some than others, and spezk

to some not at all, I am I think only concerned with how it would sreak to persons
interested in the existence or non-existence of a customary right; to such persons (the
custor of dancing round the ilaypole is such a well known custom in rural Znzland) the
Great Maypole in this Village whould I think speak clearly enough.

It was said that the Great llaypole is of no significance because it was not erected

Yas of right" the only possible inference from Mps, iray's history® being that everythi
done in 1078 as described by her was with the permission of the Lord of the ilanor. I
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agree that his permission must be inferred, but any such permission is I think within
example (B) above supposed: it was as if the Lord of the Manor had permitted the
inhabitants to erect a notice "This land isa Village Green'': neither he nor anybody
else could have contemplated that he could in a few yenrs take it away.

It was said that the Great Maypole has lost its significance because for many years
it has been non-operational. In 1394 it was''nearly 50 years since the pole was
decorated and Merry May-Day celebrated in the old fashion style', Speizht® page 110.
Mrs. Ennis had seen an old picture showing the Great Maypole surrounded with a seat
and shrubs. It is on a small eminence which in parts is uneven, so that to dance
around it anything but a stately measure by adults would be exhausting. So now the
Great Maypole cannot be regarded as anything but a symbol. But as a symbol seems to
me to proclaim the status of the Unit Land more clearly, than it would if it were
operational,

I see no reason limiting the symbolic assertion by the Great iiaypole to anything
less than the whole of the Unit Land,

In considering whether a customary right exists I am concerned whzt has or may
have happened¢ from time immemorial. The layout of the Village surrounding as it
does the Unit Land accords with the plan adopted in numerous villages in England.
The 1607 map*(a though it does not mark the lMaypole) shows the general layout of
the Village #=~It now is. The Unit Land is omitted from the 1767 sct®and the 1776
iward® made dnder it, indicating that althouzh it may then have been common land

 there was some good reason why it should not be enclosed. The 1846 iward which

arparently dealt only with the tithe payable in respect of land not inclosed under
the 1767 Acfﬁ omits any reference to the Unif Land indicntinz that at that time
it was in 3 special position.

Ther~ is an ancient custom lmown ns “Hising Peter' described by lirs. .ray® p:ge
1%:5he wrote as set out in the Fifth Appendix. There was some uncertainty at the
hearing as to now far if at all this custom is now practised, out some present

seemes to think th:t by digsinz in the right spot, "Peter’ could still be ‘ound.

Then it was said thot the cricket at least could not be played pursuant to a
customary richt beczuse before 1509 the cricket was played in a field nesr the

Unit Land and that the old cricket pitch was made after a meeting of the common

rizht holders had ziven permission. iir. Burton said that he had been told this by

nis father;-#h:init was a2 terrible job getting the cricket pitch from the common

risht nolders., MNr. 3urton who had for many yesrs been on the committee of the

Cricket Club agreed when asked thst there had never been any suggestion at any
meeting that ericket could only be played (because he was chairman of the Club]by

the permission of Colonel .yiroyd. " Hé held the view that all play was under the
permission granted in 1509, by the Common right holders; (it was mentioned that

for many years the nitch had been enclosed against their cattle)., In ny view any

such permission by tre common right owners as described by lir. Burton would not
negative the existence of a customury right;ﬂfﬁt is a permission within examvle (B)
above sunvosed. Indeed I go further, from the more than 4G years cricket played

since 1809 and the absence of any attempt by the common right owners to stop cricket
being played, I infer that the permission given in 1509 was. intended to be irrevocable
and as indicated by Lord Lindley #upra, I am obliged by law to presume that the

common right owners executed a grnnt (which has since been lost) by which they granted

~(or confirmed) to the inhabitants the right to play cricket on the old cricket pitch
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for ever; and 'the law will adopt a legal fiction that such a grant was made, in



spite of any direct evidence that no such grant was in fact made™ for Buckley L.J.
in Tehidy v Norman 1971 2 «.B. 528 at page S52.

I reject the argument based on the Local Government Act 1894 that because the Parish
Meetings and the Parish Council .do not appear on the Minute Book* at any rate until
recently, to have taken interest in the Unit Land that I should infer that there was
no village green within the meaning of that Act; section 6 does not deal with all
"yillage greens' but only with those in respect of which the overseesrs etc. had power
etc. On the information I have it is I think unlikely that the section ever applied
to the Unit Land and certainly no significance can I think be attached to it not
occurring to any person in the Village that it might.

Cn the above considerations, I conclude not only (as already mentioned) that for
20 years at least before 30 Harch 1967 the inhabitants of the Village have indulged
in sports and pastimes on the Unit Land as of right, but also that they have a
customary right to indulge in sports and pastimes on the Unit Land.

Accordingly, I confirm the registrations in the Register of Town or Village Greens
and refuse to confirm the registrations in the Register of Common Land, My con-
firmation will apply to the registrations not only in the Land Section but also in
the Rights Section: and the registration in the Land Section will (for the reason
mentioned in the First ippendix) be modified by adding to the description of the
land registered the words: "excluding therefrom the County maintained highways".

I have not in this decision recorded the various contentions and argumentis submitted
to re by ir. -earlmen (for Village Green), and by Fr. Yeomans and Major Barchard (fer
Common), with a view to not making this decision longer than it alrezdy i=s. The
number and variety of points dealt with on this decision is some indication of the
number and variety of the submissions they made to mej and I cannot conclude this
decision without thanking them for the time and :trouble they have taken in this
matter and mentioning particulariy lajor Barchard who as chairman of the Farish
Council undertook 2 task which must at times have been excerntional 'y difficult,
narticulzrly as he only realised after; thes commencement of the heasring th=t those
for Common had to contend not that ther/not a Common but thot they hud not got a
Village Green. '

I am required by regulation 30(1) of the Cornons Commissioners Regsulations 1971 to
explain that a person aggrieved by this decision as being erroneous in _zoint of law .
may, within 6 weeks “rom the date on which notice of the decision is sent to hin,
require me to state a case for the decision of the High Court.

FIRST . PPENDIZ

(I'atters not in issue)

¥r. Pickerszill produced a map showing the parts of the Unit Land wnich the County
Council claimed were highways (the said motor road across the Unit Land, a short
length of road off it to the south west, and two footpaths along or near the soundary
of the Buttery Pond part); he said that on the assumption that I decided to confirm
the registration of the Unit Land as a town or village green, the County Council
would be satisfied if I directed that to the description of the land in the Register

. there should be added the words: "excluding therefrom the County mairtained highways'.
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All present at the hearing agreed (on the same assunption) to this modification.
Having stated that I would act on this agreement, I heard no evidence or argument in
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relation to the objection of the County Council. Mr. Pickersgill explained that if I
decided to confirm the registration of the Unit Land as Commeon Land, the County Council
would not ask for any modification, because they were satisfied that they would be
sufficiently protected by sections 21(2) and 22(1) of the 1965 Act.

The registrationsat Entries Nos.1-24 of the Rights Section come before me as disputes
because (a) by reason of the conflict between the common land and the town or village
green Land Section Entries, each Entry is treated as an objection to the other, see
regulation 7 of the Commons Commissioners Regulations 1971, and (b) an objection to.
a Land Section Entry is treated as an objection to all entries in the Rights Section,
see subsection (7) of section 5 of the 1965 Act. All present at the hearing agreed
that whatever might be my decision as to the Unit Land being common land or a town

or village green, I should confirm the registrations at the said Entries Nos. 1-24 in
the Rights Section. There is I think no reason why I should in- the circumstances of
this case investigate disputes which are by regulation 7 and subsection (7) to be
treated as having arisen; this regulation and subsection are I think intended to

_provide protection in quite different circumstances. Accordingly having stated that

5
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I would act on this agreement, I heard no evidence or argument as to the validity
of the said Zntries in the Rights Section.

The definition of "common land" in section 22(1) of the ict of 1665 ict excressly
provides that “common land" does "not include a town or village green ..."; so if I

am satisfied that the Unit Land is a town or village green, I need not consider whether
the Unit Land could but for the words z2bove quoted from the definition be (as it could
be under the generzl law apart from the Act) at the same time both a town or village
sreen znd common land. If I am not satisfied, it necesszrily follows from the
agreenent atove mentioned about the entries in the Rights Section that the Unit Land
(beiny; subject to rizhts of common) would be within the definition of common land in |

the said section 22,

ot the commencement of the hezring iiajor Barchard told me that at a Perish vleeting it
was rosolved (53 for and 9 sgainst) "That the Chairman of the Parisa Council (meaning
nimzelf) sikould ... inform him (meanin; the Commons Commissioner) that by a great
majority of the people present at &« Fzrish meeting on 16 October 1373, the wish of

the village is that our Common shall be registered as Common Land and only as Common
Lond". In view of this resolution, I record that in my view my decision on the
question at issue must be in accordance with the evidence produced znd the law
aprplicable; I am only concerned with the wish of the majority to the extent that their
imown reasons for their wish throw scme lizht on the auestion: is tke Unit Land within
or not within the above guoted definition.

Juring my inspection and on the last day of the hearing 1 asked whether any person
contended that I should or could find that part only of the Unit Land was a town

or village sreen, and all persons present agreed that the Unit Land could not sensibly
be divided and' that accordingly my decision should be that either all or none of it

is a village green. This agreement accords with my own view; the Unit Land appears

to be one piece of land and it could not I think be sensibly divided into more than
one piece for any purpose with which I am concerned,

SECCND EPENDIX

(Course of proceedinss and documen:s produced)

liajor Barchard (for Common) explairmdthzt those of the Village who wanted the Unit
Land to be Common Land were he thougH’for the most part concerned with control; they
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did not want control to be transferred to someone who might be non-agricultural
minded; he outlined the case against the Unit Land being Village Green. Mr. Yeomans
(on behalf of Hogg Builders), Mr. Towers, Colonel Mansel and Mr., Owen {(on behalf of
Mr. Candeland) said they were for Common.

Mr., Pearlman (on behalf of Mr. Johnson), Mr. Holgate and Mr. & Mrs. Ennis were for
Village Green. Mr. Pearlman outlined the case for the Unit Land being such.

Mr. Johnson (for Village Green) produced conveyances dated 17 October 1968 and 26
October 1971 under which he became entitled to Rose Cottage as successor in title

to Mr. H. Hardy; all present agreed he was entitled to be heard as a person who had
succeeded to an applicant for registration of a right of common. Ee produced the
following documents which he had collected:- (1) Nidderdale by H. Speight (a 51k
pages printed Historic, Scientific and Descriptive Account; 189%); (2) From Edenvale

to the Plsins of York by I. Bogg (a 345 pages printed local history; undated; mentions
1887 Jubilee and probably published soon after); (3) copy (from the Borthwick Institut
of ilistorical Research, York) of the Nun Monkton Tithe Apportionment Award confirmed

6 spril 1340 and of the plan dated 1838 referred to; (4) copy {from the County Record
Office) of the Hun Monkton Inclosure Act 1767 (7 Geo. 3. cap xxxi), of the Award dated
14 jiarch 1776made under it and of the Award map; (5) an 1843 O.S. map; (6) an 180G
C.5. map and (7) The History of Nun lMonkton by Hrs. J. Wray (22 pages of typed foolsc:
mentions that Rev. H. G. Cutier ceased to be incumbent in 1968 and so was presumably
written afterwards; Mrs. Wray was assistant teacher and then head teacher at the Vills
School until 1557 when she retired; she still lives in the Village but is now wemy
eléerly).

Fr. J. iiolz-te (for Village Green) gave oral evidence. He is 65 years of age, came

to Moor lloniiton (the adjoining village) in 1%24, has lived in {un lonkton since 1%5C,
bec=me a member of the Parisn Council when it was formed in 1956 or 15657, was chairman
for 3 years until 1973 when he retired from the Council. He produced (1) 3ulmers
“istory of Topography and Jireectory of iHorth Yorkshire Part II (published 1591); (2)
1034 _ales Farticulars of the iun ilonkton Ostate (vendor ir. . 3. iakins); and (3)
the iinute Zook of the Parish leeting of the Townshir of iiun Honkton from 1920 onwardc
e nas been involved in a largze nuaber of Village activities., He zave me a full and
detziled description of the recreztional and other uses made of the Unit Land and of
the circumstances &s he mmew then,

Hrs. Znnis (for Village Green) gave oral evidence. 3She came to the Village in 1955

as a supuly teacher at the 3chool; she taught full time from 1957 and was nead

teacher from 1964 until her retirement on 31 August 1973. She described the
recroztional use of the Unit Land by children and adults, much of which she had helpec
to orgmnize., Her husband, iir. Eanis (for Village Green) produced the august 1956
issue of Yorlshire Life Illustrated containing an article by kr. .. Simpson (formerly
chairman of the Parish Council; now deceased) entitled 'Nun Monkton' Yorksaire's
Fretiiest and Friendliest Village"; he supplemented his wife's eviZence in various
WaYyS.

¥r. Parkinson (a local resident) read me a statement in which he said (stating its
ef“ect shortly) that he was neither for Common nor for Village Green, but was very
concerned with the misuse of the Unit Land, meaning its use for parking coaches
bringing fishermen at weekends.

Major Barchard (conducting the case for Common) produced (1) a copy of a 1607 map
of Nun Monkton from Mediaeval England and Aerial Survey (Old Haps and New rhotographs)
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Beresford 1953; (2) a copy of part of a deed relating to Shrubbery Cottage; and (3)
a 27 pages booklet entitled "Day Dreams in a Priory Garden; A masque written and
arranged for presentations by the villagers of Nun Monkton and others" (written by
Captain Whitworth as a script for a pageant held in the Priory Garden in 1930).

Colonel Woolley (for Common) gave oral evidence. He first went to live in the

Village in 1958. He produced (1) a 8 pages booklet: The Story of Nun Monkton by

C. W. W. (Major C. W. Whitworth) 1938; (2) an 0.3. map (revised 1967) 1/2,500; (3)

an 0.3. map {1909 edition) 1/2,500; (4) Duties of Pasture Hasters on Doclmire, Nun
Monkton 1904; (5) an 0.5. map 1892, 1/2,500; (6) a map of part of Yorkshire (including
Nun Monkton, Knaresborough and Boroughbridge) endorsed'Published according to Act of
Parliament 25 March 1772 by Jefferys'; (7) the ten statements mentioned earlier in
this decision and (8) a document headed '"Court Leet" and including "List of Offences o
pains,'" the Method of Procedure'" and "List of Plain Ditches'" (part of a record prepare
by Miss M. Oakley, teacher at the School from 1930-15637 and head before Mrs. Innis).
He gave me a history of the use of the Unit Land as he had known or discovered it as

a Common in association with the Manor. He referred me to Common Lands of England and
Wales by W. G. Hoskins and L. Dudley Stamp; 1963.

At the beginning of the last day of the hearing (lionday 5 November) iajor Barchard
handed me:= (1) a statement sworn by lr. D. P. Aykroyd; (2) a stztement signed by
Mrs. A, Manselj and (3) a statement signed by Mrs. C. Crawshaw, All these had been
made on the orevious day (Sunday). >

ir. R. C. Burton (for Common) then gave oral evidence. He was bornm and has lived

in the Village for the last 63 years {(except 18 months in 1951). He is and has

been ever since the Parish Councll was formed 15 years agq a member: he is also a
member of the Rurzl Pistrict Council., His father (iir, Y. Burton) was (as he remembere
Assistant Overseer (as such responsible for the rating accounts), local tax collector,
respvonsivle for the census, bailiff to the Nun lionkton Court Leet, secretary of the
Cricket Club, and chairman of the Parish ileeting. He produced:- (1) in authority
dated 13 July 1925 and signed by bHr. U, ii. Cobb as steward of the Court Lest of the
vanor of Ilun Monkton addressed to lMr. '/, Burton to summon the Freeholders ... etc.
"that ... they appear at the Court Leet, View of Frankpledze and Court Baron of

Jalter John Crawhill Esquire Lord of the said ilanor ,..' on 2k July 1925; (2) i letter
dated 27 July 1531 from lir. Cobb to his father enclosing a similaor authority to

sumpion a court on 7 Aurust 1931; and (2) two cards (one dated 1S4% and the other dated
1950) ccentaining the seazsonzl programme of Nun ifonkton Cricicet Club and the name of
the "Officials" including "President Col., Aykroyd'. lie zave me a full z2nd detailed
description of the recreational and other uses of the Unit Land and the circumstances
as he knew them.

Colonel lansel (for Common) zave oral evidence abouf a wall which had been erected
and later taken down by Mr. Sadler.

Mr. ii. P. Hogg gave oral evidence as to the circumstances in which Hopgg Builders built
a house on land fronting on the Unit Land near Croft House, by refzrence to a statemen
he put in. Hogg Builders thought that there would be a right of way to the house frox
the main road through the Village either across the Unit Land or across the Unit Land
and part of the land held with Croft House. As a result of taking msterials to the

house on the basis that such a right existed, two. actions had been commenced against

Hopg Builders in the County Court, one by the owmer of Croft House alleging interferen
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with his land and the other by the County Council alleging interference with the
Unit Land; in these actions interlopgftory injunctions had by consent been granted
pending the outcome of these proceedings under the 1965 Act.

The hearing concluded with submissions by Mr, Yeomans for Common, by Mr. Pearlman
for Green and by Major Barchard for Common.

THIZD APPENDIX
(Acts of ownership or indicating permission had or might or might not be given)

(1) Mr. Crawhill after a heavy rainstorm would not allow a threshing machine to
enter Buttery Farm (just north of Buttery Pond) across the Unit Land because it
might damage the surface.

(2} Mr. Burton remembered his father going round the amusement fair collecting the
dues from the Fair Proprietors for the privilege of coming, he understood that his
father handed the money to ir. W. J. Crawhill and he recollects being told that

Mr. Crawhill gave some of it, possibly all of it, to the Sports. lirs. E. and Hr., F.
Huby in their statement* said the sum paid was one shilling.

(3) In 1929 iir. Burton was employed by C..ptain Whitworth as his horse and cart man.
Cartain “nitworth had just come to live at the Priory and was minded to lay out the
lawvns with turf from the Unit Land. He avoripothed ilr, W, J. Crawhill. - In the result
a meeting of the commons rishts nelders was held to decide the asuestion; their decisic
was that Cartain hitwortlh should be allowed to toke the turf provided it was filled
in avain and levelled up. He accented, and the place {nesr Hozs Builders new buildin-

was levelled up znd reseeded :nd 13 now 5ood peraanent pastiure.

(i:} Aftsr the 193%=45 war, Coclonel iykroyd told the Fair FPropriators (or their
renresentatives) that they were not wanted any more. I make this Iinding notwithstanz
ing that the only evidence of what Colonel .iykroyd did was hearsay (i.e. that [ir, Holg
and i.r. Durton were both tsld indenendently about it) because they were both satisfied
that Colonel Aykroyd did this. Ir. Holgate said that his informant (one of the Fair
Froprietors) had told him that Colonel ~ykroyd mentioned the noise; I infer from the
rest of ilr, Holgate's evidence that he did not certainly think that the noise was the
orly or one of the reasons Colonel .ykroyd zave or held at the time, accordingly I
rmake no finding on this vpoint.

(5) <Colonel :oolley's house fronts on the Unit Land and access to his zarage is
obtained from a track running parallel with his frontage., He found that 'he could
not conveniently set his car out of his gnrage, so as to aline it along the track
without backing across the track onto the grass land beyond; such grass land was
often very soft so that the car sank into the ground and left an unsightly mark. He
consulted Colonel G. H. Aykroyd; at the time Colonel .Joolley believed him to be the
Loré of the Manor but did not tell Colonel .iykroyd that he consulted him for this
reason. [Following the suggestion of Colonel .iykroyd, Colonel Woolley removed a
portion of the grass, substituted hard core for the soft ground undernezth and
replaced the grass on top, so0 that in result he can now back his car over the grass
without sinking it in the grass and (as he does not do this very often) without
damaging the grass.
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(6) In about 1958 the Parish Council was approached by the York Area Telephone
Manager about some proposed works on the Unit Land. At the time some members of

the Parish Council thought Colonel G, H. Aykroyd had rights as Lord of the Manor;

Mr. Holgate himself thought his permission was needed for digging turf or felling
trees (but not for sports and pastimes). Colonel Aykroyd attended a meeting at
which the proposed telephone works were under consideration; he said he was reluctant
to take part in any discussion concerning rights on the Village Green (mesning the
Unit Land) because he could find no title to them,

(7) In about 1959 Mr, T. Hunter thought an elm tree near his house was dangerous
and asked the Parish Council if they would cut it down. Theyconsulted Colonel G. H.
Aykrovd for his permission; he said he did not feel he could grant permission as

he had not sufficient title. Ultimately Mr. Hunter cut down the tree; there was no
evidence as to what happencéd to the timber.

(8) 1In about 1963 or 1964 a large poplar on the Moor End part was blown down by the
wind., The Parish Council arranged for timber merchants to take this away and received
from them £5, for the timber. About the same time another tree (opposite Mr. Taplin's
house, now owned by Mr, Patrick) was thought to be unsafe and so the Parish Council
arranged and paid for it to be felled. The Parish Council orfered to pay Colonel

G. E. Aykroyd the %5 received for thellack poplar timber; but he waived any claim

he mizht have to this£% and as a result the money was retained by the Farish Council
to help offset the higher charge for felling the Taplin tree.

(9) i#r. llolgate aftor describing the events mentioned at subparasraphs (5), (o),
(7) and (8) above, said that from then onwards the Farish CJouncil "tended to disresard
Colonel Aykroyd as recards any trees and any holes we nizht diz "in the Unit Land®.
ir. Surton when asked why members of the Parish Council did not sugzest arproaching
the Lord of the ilanor about some stone which had been derosited on the Unit Land at
about the time Jogs Builders were building their building, said that at the time the
Parisn Council could not find the Lord of the iianor and that starting about 3 or 9
years ago the Parish Council had "assumed custody” of the Unit Land. In about 1555
the Parish Council requested (7 told} Mr. Sadler to pull down a wall which he had
recently erected near Syke House encroaching (so the Parisn Couneil considered) on
the Unit Land and this he did; this request was made without reference to the Lord

of the iianor.

Notwithstending the informality of the discussions described in parzgrashs (6), (7)
and (2) above, I am satisfied thzt Colonel iykroyd meant and was understood by the
Barish Council to mean that he claimed no title to the Unit Land in the sense thst
he was not lezally entitled to permit or object to anything which the Parish Council
considered should or should not be done on it; iir. Holgate and Mr. 3urton (bot:z
members of the Parish Council at the relevant times), although they used different
words to describe the resulting position as they saw it, were, as outlined in
subparagraph {8) agreed that as a result of Colonel aykroyd's attitude, the Farish
Council about 8 years ago (while respecting the grazing rights of the Commises onery
in effect took over the Unit Land. I think it unlilkely that the word "ownersnip"
was used by Colonel Aykroyd in connection with these matters, but nevertheless from
his declaimer I conclude that he did not consider himself as owner, I think it
unlikely that the Parish Council ever considered that they had or could become 'owner:
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but nevertheless about 8 years ago they while respecting the grazing rights acted as
owners, or at least acted as persons entitled to control the Unit Land., Bearing in
mind Colonel Aykroyd's disclaimer to the Parish Council and Mrs. M. Aykroyd's
statement mentions his concern only with grazing rights, I conclude that when advisinc
Colonel Woolley about his garage access, he was not asserting his own ownership but
considering what course would be least likely to offend those entitled to grazing
rights, .

I infer that Colonel Aykroyd when he requested the Fair Proprietors not to come
any more as described in paragraph (4) was acting on behalf of the inhabitants, and
that they did not want the Fair Proprietors to come any more because the amusements
they provided after the 1939-45 war were so much inferior to what had been provided
before; if Colonel Aykroyd had then intended to assert his ownership, he would I
think have done something more afterwards; any such intention is inconsistent with
his 1953, 1959 and 1964 disclaimers.

Having regard to the amount of the payments mentioned in paragraph (3) above and the
way Mr. Crawhill was reputed to have used what he received, I am not persuaded that
he was asserting ownership rather than acting on behalf of all the inhabitants
generally in preventing the Fair Froprietors from ever establishing a right against
the Commoners and the inhabitants; if as owner he wanted to make a profit from the
Unit Land he could have charged more; even assuming that !ir. Barker received similar
payments (nobody said he did, but it is I think likely) I am not persuaded that his
attitude was any different from that of lMr. Crawhill; generally I rezard the events
described in paragraphs (1) (2) and (3) above as teing too remote and too uncertain
on which to base any conclusion relevant to this case.

FCURTH APPENDIX

(The Great laypole)
lirg, dray wrote as followsi=

“Mun lonkton Mavnole!

During the middle ages and the suceeding periods in history, all village activities
centrzsd round the villace green and the maypole. Jilmost every village rossessed one,
and it was a cherished possession. Tradition says that a new oaik aaypole was erectead
in 1793. an old painting in the possession of my brother dated about 1645 shows 2
mavpole on it. This was possibly the one erected in 17¢3. In 187€ a new maypole

was erected the other evidently having been blown down,

The Vicar, the Rev. Septimus Crawhall, was the originator of the scheme and ne gave
most of the monevy for the purchose of the pole. The rest wss raised by public
subscription. 4 meeting of the villagers was called and tir., John roulter, senr. was
isiven the sum of L1 to cover his expenses and was instructed to go to Hull to make
enquiries as to price, size, etc., of a suitable pole. The Ll was for lodging for
the night, etc., iir. Poulter was met by an old ffiend Mr. Seth Lupton who lived in hul
and who gave his visitor free lodzing. They made the necessary enguiries and also
spent the 21 on liguid refreshment. On his return iir. PFoulter reported to the Vicar
and a pole was purchased for £25. It was a Norwegian pine tree., It was despatched
to Marston Moor station and it was an unshaped block. A wood wagon left Nun Honkton
" at 3.30 a.u. to collect it but did not arrive back until 6.30 a.z. the next morning.
é§§> The greatest difficulties were experienced in turning corners at larston Loor and at
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Poole Lane End.

The pole was shaped and painted by Mr. Poulter and his sons and men, and it was
raised by a hand winch and ropes borrowed from Beningbrough Hall. At the meeting
to audit the accounts, the Rev, Septimus asked Mr, Poulter to present a statement
showing exactly how the £1 given to him was spent. The statement was handed in
later, but needless to say the exact method of expenditure was not accurately given
as Mr. Lupton had provided accommodation free and the Z1 had been spent on liquid
refreshment, This account was given to me verbally by Mr. John Poulter son of the
above who followed his father as village joiner,

"The erection of the new Mavpole"

-

The new maypole was set about 1O ft. deep in the earth with a heizht above ground
of 70 ft, It was painted ir black and white spirals and was erected. at the village
feast. The steamers "City of York" and "Lady Elizabeth' garried 300 people from
Yorik and many people came from surrounding villages. There were 3 vicars present
from adjoining parishes. There was tea on the Green and the Priory gardens were
thrown open. The May jueen was Annie ‘“iright who had been selected because she was
the cleverest girl in the school. GShe was carried in a chair round the village, the
procession being headed by the York Hodel Brass Band, Races were held and dancing
tooik place on the green,

On January 2nd 1625 this maypole was blown down in a great gale. 'hile on the
ground it wasrepainted by Mr. J. Poulter and iir. Cooke and the length was reduced
by & ft. Tenders were invited for the re-erection, but none were forthcoming, so
¥r. Tom “Jood, threshing machine proprietor, offered to do it. This he dic most
successfully with the help of the village men. The present heizht is about &6 ft.
with above 8% ft. sunk in the ground. This was in June 18235,

On iiov. lst 1037 o mecting was neld (iir. Robinson, chairman, lir. 3. Burton, hon.
secy) to discuss the repainting of the maypole. The sum of nesrly 5 had been left
over from the Coronntion festivities and this sum was to be used Tor repzinting.
The ratter was leit in abevance until more money could be rsided, " In July 1939 a
York firm painted it in green and white spirals. It took a week and a dar to
coemplete the work., Scaffolding was erccted to reach the top. The tip and vane
were done in gold leaf. Unfortunately there was a thunderstorm every day of that
week and the ren were wetted throush every day.

The following is the balance sheet of the Fund,.

Receints ) Pavments
Balance from Coronation L -6 -1 iir. Cooke/new iron 0-1-5
vhist Drive 3.12.37 53 =10 - 3 Use of hall 3 -0
Raffle of Cheese 1-0-2¢ ilessrs. Dodsworth 15 -0 - C
Whist Drive 21.1.38 l-1l2 -2
ditto 13.2.38 1-15 -0
Collection Village Box l -9 =5.
Whist Drive 5.5.40 113 -0
Raffle 5 =0
Interest from Bank 12 - 6
16 -4 -5 16 = 4 -5
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In 1898 a flag was bought and used until Captain Whitworth replaced it in 1935
(Silver Jubilee) and Col. Aykroyd and Mr. A. C. Crowther between them paid for
the repainting of the Pole and the purchase of a new flat for the Coronation o
Queen Elizabeth II.

On the 5 November, 1953, the front gate of the Alice Hawthorne Inn was seen on
top of the maypole, 683 feet from the ground. It was later removed. ({Mischief
Night)",

Addendum
Major Barchard (to bring Mrs. Yray's history up to date) said that recently the
Great Maypole was taken down repainted and re-erected at a cost of £103 collected

a the Bus Stop mostly from visitors.

FIFTH APPENDIX

(Rising Peter)

3t. Peter's Day, June 25th, is the Feast Day in Nun lonkton and a corresvondent
writing in the Daily Herald in 1860 stated that it was customary in former years
to observe a Festival known as '"Rising Peter', but that it was almost absolete
in 1363. \

nccording to the writer - "The festivities extended over a week, znd the sane
nrocedure was observed year after year.,

on the Saturday evening sreceding the 29th a comusny of narishionsrs headed by
fiddlers and nlayers of other instruments went in yprocession across the Great
Common to iaypole Hill whero there was an old sycamore tree, for the purpose of
"Rising Peter", who had been buried under the tree after the last 3t., Petar's Zay.
This effigy of 5t, Peter, rudely carved in wood and clothed in a fantastic fashion
was placed in a box and conveyed to a neizhbouring house (possibly the Inn) where
it was exposed to view and kept there until the following ZSaturdar, when another
rrocession formed and St. Feter was reinterred. This was called "Zurying Peter,

On the evening of the first day of the Feast joung men went throush the Village
with larze baskes for the purnose of ccllecting tarts and cheese cakes and eggs
for mulled ale, all being cocnsumed at the above ceremonies. Afterwards - dancing,
sports and suppers took place in the Village every day whiile the Tezast lasted.

Dated this it [t g&ay of 1“8141“”*;L 1574,

Commons Commissioner



